
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Housing Cabinet 
Committee

Members of the Housing Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held at the  on Wednesday, 13 February 2019 at 7.30 pm when the 
business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 6)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

5. Draft Homelessness Strategy (Pages 7 - 26)

6. Corporate Performance Update - Quarter Three 2018-19 (Pages 27 - 38)

To present Members of the Housing Committee with an update against 
the Performance Management Framework, as set out within the council’s 
Corporate Plan 2015-19, for Quarter Three 2018-19 (October to 
December 2018). 

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 



8. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.
 

Part B 
 

 Items likely to be considered in Private

Members

Cllr Harold Craske (Chair)
Cllr Greta Goatley (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Colin Caller
Lyn Milner
Leslie Pearton
Anthony Pritchard
Peter Scollard
Jenny Wallace

Substitutes: To be notified 



1

Housing Cabinet Committee

Tuesday, 13 November 2018 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Harold Craske (Chair)
Cllr Greta Goatley (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Lee Croxton
Lyn Milner
Leslie Pearton
Anthony Pritchard
Peter Scollard
Jenny Wallace 

Wale Adetoro Assistant Director (Housing)
Chris Wakeford Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

47. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Colin Caller; Cllr Lee Croxton attended as his 
substitute.

48. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 26 September 2018 were signed by the Chair.

49. Declarations of interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

50. Corporate Performance Update – Quarter Two 2018-19 

The Assistant Director (Housing) presented Members of the Housing Committee with an 
update against the Performance Management Framework, as set out within the council’s 
Corporate Plan 2015-19, for Quarter Two 2018-19 (July to September 2018).

The Assistant Director (Housing) highlighted the following:

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Housing Cabinet Committee 13.11.2018

2

 PI 12 - Number of affordable homes delivered
34 properties have been developed by Housing Associations (Hyde Housing and West 
Kent Housing Association). The Council does have its own properties in the pipeline and 
some have already been delivered but they have fallen outside of Quarter Two reporting 
timeline.

 The greatest housing need in the Borough is for two bedroom properties.
 PI 13 - Number of non-local authority owned empty homes brought back into occupation

Three empty properties were returned to use through council intervention
 PI 14 - Number of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) brought up to standard and 

PI 15 - Number of private sector homes made free of health and safety hazards through 
council assistance
Due to staff shortages; the information for the two Performance Indicators wasn’t 
generated for Q2 but will be carried into Q3.
The Council monitors PI 14 and PI 15 carefully and receives information from various 
sources including Members, officers and tenants.

 PM 5 - Average time taken to re-let local authority housing (days)
The target is 27 days. General Needs for Q2 is 18 days and Sheltered Housing for Q2 is 
55 days. There is limited interest in Sheltered Housing compared to General Needs 
Housing.

 PI 16 - Percentage of emergency jobs completed on time: 100%
 PI 17a - Number of homelessness approaches to the council

The figure should be 423 (not 259). As anticipated; the Council has seen an increase in 
people asking for help since the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act.

 PI 17b - Number of households prevented from being homeless during prevention stage: 
42
PI 17c - Number of households securing alternative accommodation during relief duty 
stage: 13
There is still some spillover from the Prevention Stage into the Relief Stage.

 PI 17d - Number of households in temporary accommodation
91 people (around 60 are in council properties) were in temporary accommodation as at 
the end of quarter 2. The Council has received some funding from central government to 
assist the additional cost of temporary accommodation. The Council works with a couple 
of companies for temporary accommodation; each property is carefully vetted.

 PM 4 - Percentage of total housing rent collected (including arrears):  99.4%
PI 10 - Current tenant arrears over 7 weeks as a percentage of total rent due:  0.98%
The Council is not far off the PM 4 target of 100% but due to the introduction of Universal 
Credit, rent arrears have not reduced at the same rate as that achieved in the 4 years 
prior to the roll out of Universal Credit in Gravesham. 
The Council has procured an analytical tool to help profile and target who needs 
assistance the most with managing their arrears. This should be up and running in 
January 2019.

Members commended the Assistant Director (Housing) and his team for all their hard work in 
dealing with the impact of Universal Credit.

The Committee noted the Corporate Performance Update – Quarter Two 2018-19

Page 4



Housing Cabinet Committee 13.11.2018

3

51. Corporate Register of Partnerships - Housing Cabinet Committee Extract 

The Assistant Director (Housing) informed Members of the Housing Committee of the 
council’s involvement in partnerships that are within the remit of the committee.

The current partnerships that most directly relate to the work of the Housing Committee are 
as follows: 

 Energy Saving Trust Advice Centre (ESTAC) (Careline Services) 
 Housing Associations (Registered Providers) 
 Kent Energy Efficiency Partnership (KEEP) 
 Kent Home Choice 
 Kent Housing Group 
 Kent and Medway Sustainable Energy Partnership (KMSEP) (formerly Kent and Medway 

Green Deal Partnership) 
 Kent ‘No Use Empty’ Initiative 
 Supporting People Partnership

This year a new section has been included in the register on Safeguarding Children and 
Vulnerable Adults, to define how each partnership supports the council’s wider Safeguarding 
commitment.

The Assistant Director (Housing) highlighted the Housing Associations (Registered 
Providers) and Kent Home Choice as ‘significant’ partnerships. The Assistant Director 
(Housing) explained that the Housing Associations (Registered Providers) partnership is how 
the Council gets new properties built in the Borough and the Kent Home Choice is a very 
active partnership that provides genuine choice-based lettings.

Councillor Jenny Wallace highlighted the good work of Sharon Donald, Housing Strategy 
and Development Manager and suggested that the new properties at Packham Road be put 
forward for an award.
The Assistant Director advised that he would look into this matter and report back to the 
Committee.

The Committee noted the Corporate Register of Partnerships - Housing Cabinet Committee 
Extract.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.17 pm

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



Classification: Public 
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Cabinet Committee

Date: 13 February 2018

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Housing)

Subject: Draft Homelessness Strategy

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present and consult on the council’s draft homelessness strategy. The aim of this draft 
strategy is to set out the Council’s approach for tackling homelessness in the district and 
how, over the lifetime of this strategy, the council will achieve this working with key partners.  

The council’s current homelessness strategy expired in 2016 and the production of a new 
strategy was delayed to allow for the Homeless Reduction Act to receive Royal Assent during 
2017 and for subsequent guidance to be issued by the Department for Communities and 
Local Government in the form of a revised Code of Guidance, which contains key information 
around Government expectations for Homelessness Strategies and their production. The 
revised code of Guidance was issued in November 2017 and the Government consulted on 
this early in 2018.  

This Strategy is the first one developed under the framework of the Homelessness Reduction 
Act 2017 and, is important as homelessness and poor housing conditions continue to blight 
lives, damage health, reduce opportunities and negatively impact on communities in profound 
ways. Preventing homelessness is therefore a priority for the Council and the Council 
remains committed to preventing homelessness, helping people find housing that meets their 
needs and providing the support needed to prevent them from going back into 
homelessness.  

This draft Strategy reinforces the council’s commitment to preventing homelessness rather 
than dealing with households at the point of crisis. This is particularly important during a time 
where resources available to the Council are more limited and yet we are seeing an increase 
in numbers requiring support to sustain their existing home, or secure new accommodation.

Recommendations:
 Approval of the strategy
 Agreement to commence wider consultation on the strategy

Page 7 Agenda Item 5



2

Introduction

1. The council’s last homelessness strategy focused on preventing homelessness. This 
approach has delivered excellent results, especially in preventing family 
homelessness. Between 2015 and 2017, 523 households were provided with support 
to help them maintain their current home or find alternative accommodation and 
prevent their homelessness.  

2. This draft strategy, if approved will continue this focus on homeless prevention and 
seek to improve homeless prevention for singles and couples. This is aligned with the 
Homelessness Reduction Act which aims to ensure a greater focus on the prevention 
of homelessness and offers some increased protection for single homeless people 
and couples without dependent children. It also sets out how, over the lifetime of the 
Strategy, services will need to shift from being advisory in nature to being more 
individualised and supportive to those who are presenting as homeless, and sets out 
key actions as to how this will be achieved.  

3. The review of homelessness was commenced in April 2018 and it is a detailed robust 
analysis of the challenges, trends, existing services and opportunities facing 
Gravesham.  Consultation was pivotal in the development of the review. 

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

4.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There is requirement on the council to produce a homelessness strategy. The 2002 
Homelessness Act amended the 1996 Housing Act and outlines the legal 
requirement placed on local authorities to undertake a review of homelessness in 
their area, and develop and publish a strategy which sets out how the authority will 
prevent homelessness, based on the findings of the review. This requirement was 
not amended by the Homelessness Reduction Act and the new Code of Guidance 
strengthens requirements for Local Authorities to work with partners in the 
development of their strategy.  

These Strategies should be published periodically but at no longer intervals than 5 
years.  

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

The proposals are intended to set out the council’s approach to tackling 
homelessness. Budgeting for the service is undertaken as part of the council’s 
budget preparation, approval and monitoring processes with appropriate allocation 
to enable the council meet its statutory requirements. 

Risk 
Assessment

The strategy will be consulted upon publicly with comments received considered 
prior to finalising the policy. The action plan which supports the policy will also be 
kept under review during the lifetime of the strategy to ensure that it remains 
relevant. A full risk assessment, including an equality impact assessment of the 
draft policy will also be carried out. 

Equality 
Impact 

Screening for Equality Impacts

Page 8



3

Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes. It ensures that the needs of homeless people in the borough are met..

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

Area of focus 2 – A stronger Gravesham; and

Crime and 
Disorder

Ability to meet the needs of people who are either threatened with homelessness or 
already homeless helps avoid them being victims of crime or becoming involved in 
disorderly acts themselves. 

Digital and 
website 
implications

None

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

A more people oriented strategy will assist in ensuring that the needs of vulnerable 
residents are better identified and addressed. 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

Gravesham Borough Council 

Draft Homelessness Prevention Strategy 2019 – 2024

Page 11



Foreword from the Portfolio Holder for Housing/Leader 

Insert Picture of Portfolio Holder/Leader 

Welcome to Gravesham Borough Council’s Homelessness Prevention Strategy, which sets 
out the Council’s approach for tackling homelessness in the district and how, over the 
lifetime of this strategy, we will achieve this working with key partners.   With recent changes 
in legislation around homelessness and challenging times for local authorities and their 
partners, this is an exciting time to be introducing a new strategic plan for the prevention of 
homelessness.

This Strategy is the first strategy we have developed under the framework of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 and is important as homelessness and poor housing 
conditions continue to blight lives, damage health, reduce opportunities and negatively 
impact on communities in profound ways. That is why preventing homelessness is a priority 
for this Council and why the Council remains committed to preventing homelessness, 
helping people find housing that meets their needs and providing the support needed to 
prevent them from going back into homelessness.  This Strategy reinforces our commitment 
to preventing homelessness rather than dealing with households at the point of crisis. This is 
particularly important during a time where resources available to the Council are more 
limited and yet we are seeing an increase in numbers requiring support to sustain their 
existing home, or secure new accommodation.

Grounded in a comprehensive evidence base, our Homelessness Prevention Strategy has 
been developed working with our customers, our partners, and our stakeholders. I would like 
to extend my thanks on behalf of the Council to everyone who has been involved. 

With their help, this Strategy has been developed at a time of change. The Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017 represents a new statutory framework for local authorities.  We want to 
get better at engaging and supporting customers, and the wider system of public services, 
so that together we can improve outcomes and improve the support available for people who 
are homeless or at risk of homelessness. 

I am very pleased to endorse and support this Strategy knowing that it will deliver improved 
outcomes for those who are facing homelessness in our district.

Councillor Name and role 

Page 12



Foreword by the Chief Executive 

The Preventing Homelessness Strategy 2019-2024 presents a roadmap for the way 
Gravesham Borough Council will deliver its Housing Needs services in the coming years. It 
will: 

 Ensure compliance with the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. 

 Ensure the Council remains focused on continuous improvement in the way we 
respond to homelessness. 

 Support reform across the wider system and improve the support available to local 
residents who find themselves in difficulty. 

It will be delivered effectively, efficiently, and in keeping with the Council’s core values and 
commitment to excellence in customer care. 

The strategy represents the culmination of a significant body of work. It has been developed 
in partnership and through extensive consultation. It will directly contribute to Gravesham’s 
current Corporate Plan 2015 – 2019 and that being developed for 2019 - 2023.  The 
Strategy has been structured around 5 key priorities that feed into our overarching corporate 
aims and ambitions. In this context we will aim to: 

 Intervene in a timely manner for those at risk of homelessness 

 Strengthen our partnerships to support vulnerable groups ending the repeat cycle of 
homelessness 

 Reduce Rough Sleeping 

 Improve access to decent affordable accommodation in the private sector 

 Improve the health and wellbeing of those threatened with homelessness or who are 
already homeless 

The strategy enjoys the support of our wider services and has the full support of the 
Council’s corporate leadership team. To be effective, we recognise that our services must 
come together to support our residents, and that we cannot achieve our aims as a Council 
on our own. 

We will deliver in partnership across the voluntary and statutory sectors, and always in the 
interests of supporting our residents. 

David Hughes 

Chief Executive 

Page 13



1. Introduction

Homelessness occurs as a result of an often complex interaction between a person or 
family’s individual circumstances and a number of social and structural factors often outside 
of their control.  

Unless these factors are addressed, the ability of an individual or family to become resilient 
and improve their chance of a positive future is greatly reduced, and places them at risk of 
becoming trapped in a cycle of homelessness. 

Tackling all of these issues at the point of crisis is complex and very expensive for not only 
local authorities but other services that may work with families such as health and social 
care, criminal justice or education. Therefore, the key is to prevent homelessness before it 
happens, with joined up working between services to minimise the impact of homelessness 
on households and enable them to move into sustainable accommodation and try to prevent 
homelessness from repeating itself.  What is evident is that all experiences of homelessness 
are different and the Council and the partners it works with should respond to this by taking a 
flexible and individualised approach to tackling homelessness and the issues faced by each 
household.

However if the aim of this strategy is to deliver a more personalised individual approach to 
those who present as homeless, this has to be achieved within a context of challenging 
times. Homelessness in all forms has increased across the country over recent years 
following an extended period of austerity; there are fewer resources for services that work 
with those who are facing homelessness and this is set against a backdrop of a national 
housing crisis.  

This strategy has therefore been developed in these challenging times, in line with the legal 
framework and critically sets out the key challenges faced by the authority, identified as a 
result of a comprehensive review of the homelessness situation in Gravesham and the 
priorities we have identified as a result of the challenges faced in the district.  It also 
considers how we will work with other services to ensure that we deliver these tailored 
services for individuals and families throughout the life of this strategy.    

2. Our Vision 

Through the lifetime of this strategy Gravesham wants to work towards the following vision 

“A Borough where services work closely together to eradicate all forms of homelessness and 
all residents have a place to call home”

3. Defining Homelessness

Homelessness is defined within the Homelessness Code of Guidance as:

Page 14



“… somebody is statutorily homeless if they do not have accommodation that they have a 
legal right to occupy, which is accessible and physically available to them (and their 
household) and which it would be reasonable for them to continue to live in … “

For the purposes of the review and this strategy the term homelessness takes this definition 
in the guidance into consideration but will be used as a broad concept that includes a 
number of additional categories, ranging from those temporarily sheltered in homeless 
hostels, to hidden groups like ‘sofa surfers’, who are seeking temporary accommodation 
from friends and families following the loss of their own home, to those in overcrowded and 
unsuitable accommodation. 

For the purposes of the annual Rough Sleeper Estimate there is an additional definition of 
what constitutes Rough Sleeping 

“People sleeping, about to bed down (sitting on/in or standing next to their bedding) or 
actually bedded down in the open air (such as on the streets, in tents, doorways, parks, bus 
shelters or encampments). People in buildings or other places not designed for habitation 
(such as stairwells, barns, sheds, car parks, cars, derelict boats, stations, or “bashers”)”

Throughout the review document and in this strategy homelessness will be used as generic 
term to incorporate all forms of homelessness including rough sleeping, but where 
information relates to specific groups this will be identified.  

4. Context within which the strategy has been developed 

Since 2002, the government made homelessness prevention a priority, by providing 
increased funding to tackle homelessness, setting challenging targets for the prevention of 
homelessness, and placing requirements on local councils to produce homelessness 
strategies. The 2002 Homelessness Act amended the 1996 Housing Act by extending the 
definition of priority need to include new groups of vulnerable people, whilst outlining the 
legal requirement placed on local authorities to undertake a review of homelessness in their 
area, and develop and publish a strategy which sets out how the authority will prevent 
homelessness, based on the findings of the review. This requirement was not amended by 
the Homelessness Reduction Act and the new Code of Guidance strengthens requirements 
for Local Authorities to work with partners in the development of their strategy. Chapter 2 of 
the newly revised Homelessness Code of Guidance sets out guidance on Housing 
Authorities’ duties to carry out a homelessness review and publish a homelessness strategy.  

These Strategies should be published periodically but at no longer intervals than 5 years.  To 
fulfil these duties Gravesham Borough Council’s Review of Homelessness in the district can 
be found at the following link 

Insert Link once on website 

This Strategy has been developed, consulted on and subsequently published based on the 
findings of this review and therefore meets these legal requirements. 

Page 15



Aside from the Homelessness Review, which is a legal requirement this Strategy is 
supported by the following key documents which are essential for its delivery and can be 
found at the following links: 

Action Plan – This sets out the actions the Council will take to deliver against its priorities 
and will be updated annually 

Insert Link 

Equalities Impact Assessment – This ensures that this Strategy and the Council’s actions do 
not unfairly discriminate against any particular groups of people and that all those that 
approach the Housing Needs Service are treated equitably and fairly and on the basis of 
need. 

Insert Link

Risk Assessment – A full Risk Assessment of the Strategy and the risks associated with both 
its development and delivery has been completed.  

Insert Link  

Operationally the focus of services has remained on the prevention of homelessness since 
2002, but the prevention of homelessness has always been regarded as best practice and 
the most cost effective way to approach homelessness but was not a duty placed on 
Councils.  Until 2017 the prevention of homelessness was supported by initiatives in recent 
years such as the Government’s No Second Night Out Agenda and the publication of 
Making Every Contact Count, which was billed as the Government’s Homelessness 
Prevention Strategy which ensured previous priorities set by Government continued to be 
tackled and allowed authorities to continue to deliver effective homelessness services, 
prevent homelessness, reduce the use of Temporary Accommodation and end the worst 
manifestations of homelessness such as families living in Bed and Breakfast 
Accommodation and Rough Sleeping.  

Homelessness has always been in the spotlight but more recently, it has remained on the 
political and media agenda with all of the major party manifestos making mention of 
homelessness in the June 2017 election, and the current Conservative Government has 
pledged to halve rough sleeping by 2022 and eliminate it altogether by 2027. The Prime 
Minister has also established a high-level Rough Sleeping and Homelessness Reduction 
Taskforce supported by an expert Rough Sleeping Advisory Panel.  This was in response to 
increasing levels of homelessness across the UK. 

This has been alongside the Royal Assent of the New Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 
and its subsequent implementation in April 2018 which has made the prevention and relief of 
homelessness a duty for authorities.  Government continues to supplement Local Authority 
resources, and has provided further additional funding to support the roll out of the new Act 
in the forms of the Flexible Homeless Support Grant (which replaces the Temporary 
Accommodation Management Fee) and through new burdens funding and, more recently, 
additional money announced for tackling Rough Sleeping targeted at specific areas and to 
deliver projects such as Housing First.  However, in the current climate of Government 

Page 16



budgets being reduced the future of this funding is uncertain despite the Government’s 
commitment to tackling Homelessness.

The Homeless Reduction Act 2017

The Homeless Reduction Bill was a Private members Bill taken through Parliament by Bob 
Blackman MP which resulted in the most significant changes to homelessness legislation for 
a number of years. 

The Homelessness Reduction Bill received Royal Assent on 27 April 2017 and was enacted 
in April 2018. The new Homeless Reduction Act substantially amends Part 7 of the Housing 
Act 1996 and modifies and extends the homelessness protection in a number of key ways: 

Improved advice and information about homelessness and the prevention of 
homelessness

A review of the 2002 Act demonstrated that the advice and information provided to single 
homeless people needed to be more effective.  The new Act clearly sets out that everyone in 
a district should be able to access free information and advice on the prevention of 
homelessness and services providing advice and information must be designed to meet the 
needs of particular groups of people, for example care leavers or those experiencing 
domestic abuse.  

Extension of the period “threatened with homelessness”

Under the 1996 Housing Act an applicant was only ‘threatened with homelessness’ if they 
were likely to become homeless within 28 days.  Under the new Act this period is extended 
to 56 days or if the applicant has been served with a valid Section 21 notice that expires in 
56 days or less.  

The introduction of new duties to prevent and relieve homelessness for all eligible 
people, regardless of priority need and intentionality 

Although the concept of prevention was introduced via an amendment to the Housing Act 
1996 in 2002, most of the prevention and relief work completed by authorities sat outside the 
statutory framework.  This often led to single homeless people only receiving advice and 
information to prevent or relieve their homelessness.  The new Act will ensure that all people 
who are threatened with homelessness or who are homeless will be entitled to support from 
the authority regardless of priority need or intentionality.  This will be achieved via a full 
assessment of the household’s needs and the development of a personalised housing plan.  

Interim accommodation will still be provided to those who are homeless, eligible and have a 
priority need and for whom the authority have accepted a duty to relieve their homelessness. 

Applicants who have a priority need, and whose homelessness cannot be prevented or 
relieved after the 56 days will be owed the main housing duty unless they have made 
themselves intentionally homeless or they have refused to co-operate.  

Page 17



To discharge the new duties the authority must be satisfied that any accommodation 
secured will be available for 6 months or more.  

The introduction of assessments and personalised housing plans, setting out the 
actions housing authorities and individuals will take to secure accommodation 

The new act introduces a requirement for authorities to conduct a full assessment of all 
eligible household needs and consider the circumstances that led to the homelessness, the 
applicant’s needs and whether the household needs support to secure and sustain 
accommodation.   

A personal housing plan will then be developed which will set out steps the authority and the 
applicant must take to help the household to secure accommodation.  

Where an applicant refuses to co-operate with their key steps in their personal housing plan, 
the authority can take action to discharge its duties.  

Encouraging public bodies to work together to prevent and relieve homelessness 
through a duty to refer. 

The new Act introduces a new duty to refer an individual’s case (with their consent) to a 
housing authority identified by the applicant.   This element of the new Act was introduced in 
October 2018.

The Code of Guidance is a document that supports the legislation and this has been 
redrafted to reflect the new duties and the Government consulted on this at the end of 2017. 
The final version was published in March 2018 ahead of the implementation date of the new 
Act. The link to the revised Homelessness Code of Guidance can be found here:

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities

The Rough Sleeping Strategy 

Most recently (August 2018) the Government has launched its Rough Sleeping Strategy 
which aims to halve rough sleeping by 2022 and eliminate it by 2027.  To support this 
Government has already announced funding for those areas with the highest numbers of 
Rough Sleepers and it has commenced work to address issues that may contribute to 
homelessness post 2020 when the funding ceases including the affordability of the private 
rented sector and funding options post 2020 when the current Local Housing Allowance 
freeze ends.  

5. Summary of Review 

Gravesham Borough Council is one of 12 boroughs and districts within the county of 
Kent.  The borough is predominantly urban to the north, whereas, to the south, the borough 
is more rural.  It comprises the towns of Gravesend and Northfleet, together with the villages 
of Cobham, Higham, Luddesdown, Meopham, Shorne and Vigo.

Page 18

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities


Our last homelessness strategy focused on preventing homelessness. This approach has 
delivered excellent results, especially in preventing family homelessness. Between 2015 and 
2017, 523 households were provided with support to help them maintain their current home 
or find alternative accommodation and prevent their homelessness.  

This strategy will continue this focus on homeless prevention and seek to improve homeless 
prevention for singles and couples. This is aligned with the Homelessness Reduction Act 
which aims to ensure a greater focus on the prevention of homelessness and offers some 
increased protection for single homeless people and couples without dependent children. It 
also sets out how, over the lifetime of the Strategy, services will need to shift from being 
advisory in nature to being more individualised and supportive to those who are presenting 
as homeless, and sets out key actions as to how this will be achieved.  

The review of homelessness was commenced in April 2018 and it is a detailed robust 
analysis of the challenges, trends, existing services and opportunities facing Gravesham.  
Consultation was pivotal in the development of the review. 

The evidence presented in the review suggests that the UK has been through a time of 
unprecedented  change with the uncertainty linked to the UK exiting the European Union 
continuing, and all sectors needing to adapt to these changes.  

This is combined with significant changes to the welfare system and the legislative 
framework within which Local Authorities are operating their homelessness services.  

The evidence suggests that the population of Gravesham is increasing, and is also set to 
age in the coming years, at the same time as the number of smaller households is 
increasing.

Gender breakdown in the borough is split equally and life expectancy for men in the borough 
is worse than the national average. However women’s life expectancy in Gravesham is 
better than the national average. Those who are homeless have a significantly lower life 
expectancy than both males and females.  

The ethnic make-up of the district is 78% white British which means 22% of the population 
come from a mix of other backgrounds. 

Evidence suggests that deprivation in the borough has worsened. Welfare reform, including 
the bedroom subsidy and the changes to the benefits system could result in this number 
rising, and again could increase levels of homelessness within the borough. 

Average earnings in the borough are lower than the national average, men being paid 
considerably more than women. Unemployment is around the national average, and a large 
proportion of residents are on low incomes.  In parallel to this, due to its location, housing 
prices are at a premium making home ownership difficult for those on low incomes. This 
increases the demand on social housing (most affordable) and the private rented sector, 
(less affordable but more accessible) for young families and individuals looking to live 
independently. However access to the private rented sector is proving more difficult as 
London authorities utilise accommodation out of area and landlords who are increasingly 

Page 19



refusing to accept those who are reliant on benefits to pay their rent or who have been 
homeless.  This is coupled with around a quarter of private rented homes in the borough not 
achieving a decent standard.  

The demand for council housing outstrips supply, however there is a now a greater demand 
for smaller property and larger properties are less in demand. This may because of the 
under occupancy charge, and also that utility costs continues to rise. Families too are getting 
smaller, and fewer couples are having children meaning they would only require a one bed 
property. 

Evidence suggests that homeownership, private renting and even affordable rents are 
unaffordable for some, leaving social rent the only affordable option placing an increased 
demand on council and housing association stock, which is decreasing due to right to buy. 
Additionally, in the 2015 post election summer budget the Chancellor of the Exchequer 
announced a 1% decrease in social housing rents, year on year for four years.   

However the Council is taking a proactive approach to the provision of affordable housing 
and is working to return empty homes back into use and also developing and regenerating 
further new council housing. Reforms to council housing finance have allowed the council 
more flexibility to do this.  

Changes to benefits are likely to impact on the most vulnerable, as will loss of funding for 
services.  Benefit eligibility criteria are making it harder for the most vulnerable to manage 
their finances. Also as universal credit is introduced and people will be expected to manage 
more money than they have ever had before, there is the probability of an increase in rent 
and mortgage arrears as people fail to pay, which could result in more evictions and 
homelessness.  

Coupled with this, those who struggle to manage money and get one monthly lump sum 
payment of universal credit, may mean an increase in rent arrears and council tax arrears, 
as more and more tenants on benefits will be expected to contribute to their council tax bill.  
All of this could see an increase in evictions and debt, and an increased demand in 
households requiring emergency housing and support. 

Nationally homelessness is on the increase. Therefore there needs to be a shift away from a 
housing advice role, to a continued emphasis on timely interventions and prevention 
methods to reduce the numbers of households reaching crisis point, and a more supportive 
and personalised service to those where they have got out of homelessness, to prevent 
them from repeating the cycle.  This is supported by the introduction of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act which has placed duties on Councils to prevent and relieve homelessness. 

Gravesham reflects national trends in that homelessness is on the increase; however there 
has been a decline in the number of accepted homeless cases and an increase in 
unsuccessful homeless applications, with preventions remaining fairly static.  Gravesham 
also follows the national trend in that its main reason for loss of last settled home is the 
ending of assured shorthold tenancies in the private sector.  

Page 20



Demand for Temporary Accommodation has increased, however the current supply of 
Council accommodation into which the Council can fulfil its interim and full duties is limited 
and therefore there has been an increase in the use of nightly paid accommodation in 
Gravesham and a return to the use of Bed and Breakfast. However this has not been used 
for families other than in emergency situations and where it has, the use has been limited.  
This has led to an increase in the cost of temporary accommodation to the Council. 

The number of rough sleepers within Gravesham is relatively low, although it has risen over 
previous years. 

In summary the key challenges identified via this review of homelessness for Gravesham 
over the lifetime of this strategy are: 

 Homelessness in all forms is on the increase 
 The availability of affordable private rented accommodation is limited and the council 

is using temporary accommodation to accommodate households, that is 
inappropriate for their needs.

 The reduction in welfare benefits, particularly the freezing of local housing allowance 
rates, means that households on full and sometimes partial benefits are not able to 
find private rented accommodation in the borough that they can afford or that is 
decent and, if they can, landlords are often unwilling to accept those who may rely on 
benefits to pay their rent or those households who have experienced homelessness 

 The impact of pressure from the London housing market, which has resulted in rising 
property prices and rents, means that households on low incomes or benefits are 
unable to afford the rising cost of housing in Gravesham without the support of the 
council, and may have to consider moving away from Gravesham

 Demand for one-bedroom social housing has increased but benefit is now restricted 
to the room rate only for those who are under 35

 There are cohorts of single vulnerable adults rough sleeping who require both 
accommodation and support 

 There are significant long term health and social impacts of homelessness that have 
wide costs for individuals, families and the public services in the borough 

 The rising demand for housing has outstripped the supply of new social housing and 
we are not moving people out of temporary accommodation quickly enough

 There needs to be a shift in the way services work, with housing options being less of 
a focus and a move towards a more personalised individual service, with key 
partners involved to prevent homelessness at the earliest stages and prevent the 
repeat cycle of homelessness 

The full review document can be found on our website.  

As a result of identifying the challenges, to address these, the following have been identified 
as the key priorities for the district 

 The provision of timely interventions for those at risk of homelessness 

Page 21



 Strengthening partnerships to support vulnerable groups ending the repeat cycle of 
homelessness 

 To prevent Rough Sleeping 

 To improve access to decent affordable accommodation in the private sector 

 To improve the health and wellbeing of those threatened with homelessness or who 
are already homeless 

A detailed action plan has been developed which supports this document and sets out 
actions as to how we will deliver against these priorities.

6. Resourcing the Strategy 

In common with other local authorities, the Council has been affected by austerity and year 
on year reductions in central government grant funding. These have required it to transform 
and constantly review opportunities to become more efficient. 

In a 2-tier area, the Council is also vulnerable to funding decisions that are made by Kent 
County Council that can have knock-on consequences for district level resources. 

Despite these pressures, the Council has continued to prioritise its frontline services and in 
particular has continued to invest in its Housing Services. Housing Services remain a priority 
for the Council and it is committed to ongoing work to improve the way we engage and 
support people who are homeless or at risk of becoming homeless. 

Monitoring and Reviewing this Strategy 

Ultimate responsibility for driving through this strategy and ensuring it delivers key priorities 
rests with the Assistant Director (Housing), supported by a range of colleagues from other 
departments internally within the Council but also external agencies. 

The strategy has been developed in partnership with others, including service users and 
stakeholders, and they will continue to be involved in the ongoing review and delivery 
against targets and outcomes. 

In response to this ongoing review the Action Plan supporting this strategy will be updated 
annually as a minimum.  

 

Page 22



Appendix 3

Gravesham Borough Council – Homelessness Prevention Strategy 2019 – 2024 

This action plan has been developed to support each of the priorities contained within Gravesham Borough Councils Homelessness Strategy.   

Strategic Priority - Intervene in a timely manner for those at risk of homelessness
Outcome Action When will this be done by How will it be done Who will do it Progress
Officers know what 
prevention tools they can 
use and have clear 
guidelines as to how they 
can be used

Review of prevention 
tools and the 
development of policies 
and procedures to 
support the delivery of 
these 

September 2109 By reviewing existing 
polices where they exist  
ensuring they are fit for 
purpose and updating in 
line with the 
Homelessness Reduction 
Act 

By developing new 
policies where there are 
none 

By developing staff 
procedures to support the 
policies 

Training for staff on the 
new policies and 
procedures to ensure a 
consistent application 

Housing Needs and 
Improvement Manager 

Housing Needs Team 
Manager 

Access to the service The “front door” is 
redesigned to better meet 
the needs of those who 
may be threatened with 
homelessness 

June 2019 Review and redesign the 
current desk duty to 
determine if it still meets 
the needs of the service 
and customer 

Ensure the website is up 
to date so that people can 

P
age 23



access information and 
self-help or know where 
to go to get early help 

Ensure that 
information and 
advice on housing and 
homelessness 
prevention is widely 
available 

Develop and increase 
access to a range of 
information for clients 
and stakeholders. 

June 2019 Update the website to 
include: 

General advice on what 
the Council can do to 
help if you are 
homeless or 
threatened with 
homelessness 

How to go about 
privately renting 

Your rights as a private 
tenant 

Renting a room in your 
home 

Housing 
Register/Allocations 

Homelessness duties 

Homelessness Reviews 

Strategic Priority - Strengthen our partnerships to support vulnerable groups ending the repeat cycle of homelessness 
What is the outcome we 
want from this  

What action will we take 
to achieve the outcome 

When will this action be 
completed by  

How will the action be 
done  

Who will complete the 
action  

How will we measure 
the success and ensure 
we have achieved our 
outcome?

P
age 24



Provision of support to 
ensure prevent repeat 
homelessness

Review level of support to 
local voluntary agencies 
and charities to assist 
families and individuals 
becoming homeless.

October 2019 Housing Needs & 
Improvements Manager

Housing Options Team 
Leader

Where possible, sign up to 
the voluntary duty to refer 
by Housing Associations to 
ensure that families 
threatened with 
homelessness are given 
advice and assistance in a 
timely manner.

As and when possible

Review tenancy 
sustainment duties 
provided by the Authority.

October 2019

Develop a local lettings 
agency in partnership with 
a neighbouring Authority 
to assist in procurement 
of accommodation in the 
private rented sector 

March 2020

Strategic Priority – Prevent Rough Sleeping 
Outcome Action When will this be done by How will it be done Who will do it Progress
Rough Sleeping in the 
district is reduced 

Develop a rough sleeper 
strategy 

October 2019 Review of Rough Sleeping 
in the district and 
development of evidence 
to support a strategy 

Develop a Rough Sleeper 
Strategy 

 Housing Needs 
&Improvement Manager

Develop an approach to 
rough sleeping which 
includes SWEP, Rough 
Sleeper Protocol and a 
reconnection protocol 

June 2019 Work with key partners to 
develop an approach to 
Rough Sleeping where all 
partners are clear of their 
roles 

Housing Needs 
&Improvement Manager

P
age 25



Pilot a Housing First 
project 

March 2020 Start a pilot to test a 
housing first approach to 
tackling homelessness 

Housing Needs 
&Improvement Manager

Strategic Priority – Improve access to decent affordable accommodation in the Private Rented Sector 
Outcome Action When will this be done by How will it be done Who will do it Progress

Increase the supply 
of good quality 
private rented 
housing in Gravesend 
and improve working 
relationships with 
private landlords and 
agents. 

March 2020 Strengthen work with 
local landlord forum 
networks 

Develop incentives for 
landlords to take 
homeless applicants as 
a discharge of duty or 
prevention.

Review existing Rent 
Deposit Scheme and 
develop in line with 
audit 
recommendations 

Housing Needs Team 
Manager 

Strategic Priority – Improve the health and wellbeing of those threatened with homelessness or who are already homeless 
Outcome Action When will this be done by How will it be done Who will do it Progress
Develop information 
relating to the health 
needs of those who are 
homeless 

Complete a full health 
needs audit using the 
Homeless Link Tool 

March 2020   Housing Needs Team 
Manager

P
age 26



Performance Update: Quarter Three 2018-19 (October to December 2018)

Classification: Public 
  
Key Decision: No
 

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Committee 

Date: 13 February 2019

Reporting officer: Wale Adetoro – Assistant Director (Housing)

Subject: Corporate Performance Update:
Quarter Three 2018-19 (October to December 2018)

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Housing Committee with an update against the Performance 
Management Framework, as set out within the council’s Corporate Plan 2015-19, for Quarter 
Three 2018-19 (October to December 2018). 

Recommendations:

This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2015 the council formally adopted its new Corporate Plan for 2015-19. 
The plan sets out the council’s vision for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and policy commitments that will shape the council’s 
activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council needs to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a new Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
will form the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents.

Page 27 Agenda Item 6



Performance Update: Quarter Three 2018-19 (October to December 2018)

2. Performance Management Process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed decisions. The council’s PMF 
presents a range of performance information which includes;

 Performance Measures (PM):  These are target-based measures 
identified and established specifically for being essential to the delivery of 
the Corporate Plan’s key objectives e.g. waste recycling rates. 

 Performance Indicators (PI): These represent important contextual 
performance information related to the Corporate Plan’s key objectives. 
PI’s are not target based as the council, whilst having influence over their 
delivery, does not directly control their outcomes e.g. crime statistics.  

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members with an overview of the council’s 
performance against the Housing portfolio for Quarter Three 2018-19, covering 
the period October to December 2018.

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented in tabular form for all 
indicators and graphically for PMs. Where any PMs have not met their set target 
for the quarter, exception notes have been provided for review. In addition, for PIs 
the tables provide ‘direction of travel’ arrows to give Members an indication of 
progress made against the previous reporting period and the respective arrows 
are explained in the key below;

2.4 For future reference, equivalent performance reports will be presented to 
Members of the Committee on a quarterly basis.

2.5 This report is for information purposes only.

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Page 28



Performance Update: Quarter Three 2018-19 (October to December 2018)

IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                             APPENDIX 1 

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to delivery its responsibilities and delivers better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.  

Risk 
Assessment

Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives, and for 
residents it provides genuine accountability in how successfully the council is 
administering its resources.   

Equality 
Impact 
Assessment

Question

a.Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have potential 
to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the community? 
If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b.Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above.

Corporate 
Plan

The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic vision and objectives for 
the authority over the 2015-19 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

All future committee reports will be presented in consideration of the new Corporate 
Plan.

Crime and 
Disorder

Community safety is an integral theme of new Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective 1: ‘a Safer Gravesham’.

Digital and 
website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to 'PI 49 - web self-help 
forms'. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

There are no implications in respect of safeguarding children and vulnerable adults.

It should be noted however, that the council's work in safeguarding children and 
vulnerable adults helps contribute towards delivering corporate objective 1: ‘a Safer 
Gravesham’ and corporate objective 2: ‘a Stronger Gravesham’.

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Plan 2015-19: Annual Performance Report (2016-17) Delivering for the Community 00
Delivering for the Community

Housing Portfolio

Performance Report  
Q3 2018/19

P
age 31



PI 11

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 0

Direction 
of Travel

PI 12

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 0 36 53 0 18 34 26

Direction 
of Travel

02 Stronger Gravesham 
"a healthier more cohesive community where children have 
the best start in life and people are proud to call home"

Housing Portfolio: Cllr. H Craske

Number of affordable homes delivered

Collected Annually

(NB: Collected Annually: outturns relate to previous year)

Q3 2018-19 saw 26 completions of affordable housing which included 6 x 2 bed council houses at Alders Court in Northfleet.

Moat completed the remaining four shared-ownership homes on phase 1B at Springhead Park, providing 2 x 3 bed houses; 1 x 4 bed 
house and 1 x 2 bed flat.

West Kent Housing Association completed 16 x 2 bed affordable rented flats at Dalefield.

Policy Commitment 

Collected Annually

Net additional homes delivered

1. Implement a 'pro-growth' agenda, ensuring the delivery of the right volume and quality of new housing at the
    right time, whilst protecting the greenbelt from inappropriate development.

Page 32



PI 13

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 8 5 3 3 3 3 3

Direction 
of Travel

PI 14

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 0 4 3 5 2 0 3

Direction 
of Travel

PI 15

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 8 6 4 10 2 0 8

Direction 
of Travel

Three properties were brought back into use through council intervention during Q3, including a property that had lain empty for 
more than 10 years. Through regular contact with the owner and monitoring of works, the property was occupied on 19.10.2018.  A 
further long term empty property that was ‘gifted’ to the council which required major works, has been occupied since 12.11.2018.   
A third property required major refurbishment prior to occupation with a family moving in on 22.12.2018.              
                                                                                                                                                                                                                      
The Private Sector Housing Service deals with in the region of 100 cases at any one time, this includes general service requests from 
single family dwellings, licensed HMOs, renewal licenses or those HMOs going through the licensing process for the first time. This 
has increased by approximately a third due to the extension of the mandatory licensing scheme in October 2018.
 
The team prioritises all cases and those that are recognised as most important, particularly those falling under the mandatory HMO 
licensing scheme, take precedence.  New HMO licence cases have been found through continued proactive work across the borough, 
using local knowledge and experience and by working closely with other departments such as Planning, Council Tax and Community 
Safety.

The team continues to proactively inspect those that are already licensed, to ensure standards are maintained. The data held by the 
service, requires continuous updating as new properties are identified via the proactive work of the service.  

We are continuing to engage with Landlords to raise housing standards by delivering Landlord Forums, updated website information 
to reflect latest legislative changes, email signatures which deliver key messages for landlord support.  There is also information 
provided to landlords on grants available through the Energy Company Obligation (ECO) and the LA Flex which the Council aims to 
capture those vulnerable households in Private Sector.

Number of non-local authority owned empty homes brought back into occupation

Number of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) brought up to standard

Number of private sector homes made free of health and safety hazards through council assistance

Policy Commitment 

2. Confront the blight made by landlords of empty properties and Houses of Multiple Occupation.

Page 33



PM 5

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 30 28 30 28 23 26 25

Target 27 27 27 27 27 27 27

General 
Needs

26 22 25 15 15 18 18

Sheltered 
Housing

41 53 49 72 68 55 55

Target Met

Policy Commitment 
3. Tackle the housing waiting list by providing a range of properties, including actively procuring private housing 
    for future housing tenants.

We have been marginally above target in lettings for the past quarter.  When broken down further into general needs and Sheltered 
housing void times being split, general needs housing has consistently performed at well above target. However, sheltered has been 
below target consistently which therefore is an area where more focus will be this year to improve re-let times.  Work is ongoing to 
ensure that properties are advertised at the pre-void stage to ensure that an applicant is available to move in as soon as the property 
is ready to let.  Capita is being used again to accurately capture data regarding void works and stages. 

Exception 
Notes

Average time taken to re-let local authority housing (days)

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Outturn

Target

General Needs

Sheltered
Housing

Page 34



PI 16

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 100.00% 100.00% 99.59% 99.95% 99.67% 100.00% 100.00%

Direction 
of Travel

Policy Commitment 

4. Improve the standard and efficiency of our housing stock

Performance within DSO building Management has remained consistently high across both responsive Repairs and Voids during Q3.  
Emergency jobs completed within target has remained at 100% and 91% of non-emergency repairs were completed within target 
across Q3.  The monthly breakdown can be found below:

Customer satisfaction across Responsive Repairs is also monitored and the monthly breakdown and Q3 average can be found below:

The length of time it takes for DSO Building Management to bring an empty property up to a let-able standard is also monitored. This 
area of business has continued to perform well and has, in fact, been consistently better than the set target this financial year. The 
monthly breakdown for Q3 can be found below:

Percentage of emergency jobs completed on time

Page 35



PI 17a

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 374 409 379

Direction 
of Travel

N/A

PI 17b

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 38 42 50

Direction 
of Travel

N/A

PI 17c

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 27 13 13

Direction 
of Travel

N/A

PI 17d

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 55 60 67 71 89 90 92

Direction 
of Travel

Following the reported rise in of the number of people approaching the housing needs service for advice and assistance during Q1 
and Q2, Q3 has seen numbers continuing to rise.

There has been a corresponding slight increase in the number of homeless households needing temporary accommodation, up from 
91 at the end of Q2 to 92 at the end of Q3.  During Q3 there has been a decrease in the numbers of households placed in nightly paid 
accommodation, most of which has been out of the borough.  To minimise the number of out of the borough placements, officers 
are seeking to increase the range of council properties used for TA.

This quarter saw the first period of Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP) being implemented.  We accommodated rough 
sleepers during very severe cold weather.  For this period, we saw 15 people being accommodated for two nights in bed and 
breakfast accommodation.

5. Meet the housing needs of all residents including vulnerable people.

Policy Commitment 

New indicator

Number of households in temporary accommodation

Number of households prevented from being homeless during prevention stage

New indicator

Number of households securing alternative accommodation during relief duty stage

Number of homelessness approaches to the council 

New indicator

Page 36



Policy Commitment 

6. Maximise housing rent collection, including recovery of arrears.

There had been a consistent reduction in the level of arrears year-on-year, totalling just over a £630,000 reduction in four years.  The reduction has 
now turned into a slight increase on the same period last year.  The arrears have decreased significantly and the accounts left are now harder to 
reduce at pace.  Performance has also been impacted by the implementation of Universal Credit (UC). The arrears for 2018-19 have now breached 
the 2017-18 level for the month, despite the focussed work on rent accounts and working with DWP to ensure tenants are not affected by delays in 
receiving their Housing Element.

We are currently carrying circa £240,000 arrears that we would not have carried had tenants remained on HB so, had the benefit changes not 
occurred, our downward rent arrears trajectory would have continued.  Greater numbers of cases are going through the portal than previously and 
so the impact of new cases going onto UC is not fully offset by the payments made from earlier cases.  As new cases go onto UC there will be a 
fluctuation in arrears.  

We have now worked through the issue with Alternative Payment Arrangements (APAs) as DWP make 13 four-weekly payments per year to GBC, 
but on a monthly basis.  This means that there is a month throughout the year where no payments are received, with the expectation that there will 
be a month in the year when two payments are received from DWP, therefore having a positive impact in that month. If this is not the case then a 
team discussion will be held to see if APA’s are an appropriate way of dealing with arrears or if the full responsibility to make payment will lie with 
the tenant.

Further arrears letters have been created to send to tenants claiming UC – mainly at prevention stage - to tell them what is required and offering 
support where needed.  We also ask that tenants come into the Civic Centre to go through their online journal with us so we can fully understand 
the position.  As useful as this is, these meetings are also a time-consuming exercise - an officer may spend half an hour or more with a tenant we 
would not have previously needed to meet with.

Focus remains on actions that have a real impact, namely home visits and early prevention work.  In addition, joint working, with both internal and 
external partners / agencies continues.  Year-end is still a concern as, on top of the issues with UC, 01.04.2019 is a Monday so any Direct Debits due 
on that date will fall into 2019-20.  These would normally fall in the current financial year so an increase in arrears between February and March 
2019 is expected, whereas it’s usually a decrease.

Page 37



PM 4

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 100.0% 100.1% 100.0% 100.9% 99.7% 99.4% 99.2%

Target 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Target Met

PI 10

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Q4
2018-19

Outturn 1.29% 1.14% 1.04% 0.85% 0.97% 0.98% 1.08%

Direction 
of Travel

Exception 
Notes

The year-on-year reduction in the level of arrears, totalling just over £630,0000 in four years, means those remaining 
accounts are harder to reduce at pace. Performance has also been impacted by the implementation of Universal 
Credit (UC) which has resulted in us currently carrying c£240,000 arrears that we would not have carried had tenants 
remained on HB. Focus for the team in seeking to reduce arrears will be on those actions that have a real impact, 
namely home visits and early prevention work.

Current tenant arrears over 7 weeks as a percentage of total rent due

Percentage of total housing rent collected (including arrears)

99.0%

100.0%

101.0%

102.0%

Q1
2017-18

Q2
2017-18

Q3
2017-18

Q4
2017-18

Q1
2018-19

Q2
2018-19

Q3
2018-19

Outturn

Target

Page 38


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Draft Homelessness Strategy
	Homelessness Prevention Strategy - Draft
	Homelessness Strategy Action Plan

	6 Corporate Performance Update - Quarter Three 2018-19
	2. Housing Committee - Q3 2018-19 Performance Report - Appendix 2.pdf
	Q3 2018-19





